#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

EMMA COX
APPELLANT,



٧.

Case No.: 2006-SA-01611

# MS DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS RESPONDANT.

# On Appeal from the Circuit Court of Sunflower County

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

7.

::15 :37

W. Ellis Pittman, MSB#
Jwon T. Nathaniel, MSB#
PITTMAN LAW OFFICE, P.L.L.C.
Post Office Box 1670
Clarksdale, Mississippi 38614
Telephone Number: (662) 624-6680
Facsimile Number: (662) 627-6791
Attorneys for Appellant

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

**EMMA COX** 

APPELLANT,

v.

Case No.: 2006-SA-01611

MISSISSIPPI DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS RESPONDENT

## **CERTIFICATION OF INTERESTED PARTIES**

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. WHETHER THE EAB'S DECISION TO SUSTAIN MS. COX'S TERMINATION WITHOUT THE BENEFIT OF A COMPLETE TRANSCRIPT WAS DONE IN VIOLATION OF ARTICLE THREE, SECTION FOURTEEN OF THE CONSTITUTION OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI AND THE FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT TO THE CONSTITUTION OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, CREATING A CONSTITUTIONAL FACT WHEREAS THIS COURT MAY REVIEW THE EAB'S ACTIONS UNDER THE INDEPENDENT JUDGMENT TEST.
- 2. WHETHER THE EAB'S DECISION TO AFFIRM MS. COX'S TERMINATION FAILED TO MEET THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE "SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE TEST" SO AS TO VIOLATE FUNDAMENTAL PROCEDURAL PRINCIPLES OF ADMINISTRATIVE LAW AND INSTINCTIVELY MAKING THE EAB'S DECISION ARBITRARY AND CAPRICIOUS, THEREBY ENTITLING THIS COURT NOT TO GIVE DEFERENTIAL TREATMENT TO THE EAB'S PRIOR DECISION TO AFFIRM MS. COX'S TERMINATION.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent contends that while Ms. Cox was conducting yard call on January 11, 2005, she was observed with her eyes closed for approximately five (5) seconds by the newly appointed Deputy Warden John Rogers (hereinafter "Rogers"). Appellant denies that her eyes were closed or that she was inattentive. Appellant had slipped and injured herself at work less than three days before the aforementioned incident (January 8, 2005), and she was merely positing herself on a crate in order to gain some relief from her painful injuries when approached by Rogers. Respondent had a policy that anytime a staff member appeared to be asleep while on duty, the first offense would result in a written reprimand. Other employees had been observed appearing to be asleep on duty and received no disciplinary action. The Respondent justified treating those other employees differently on the basis that they were on camera when they were inattentive.

In addition, the full EAB did not have the benefit of a full and complete transcript when affirming the decision to terminate Ms. Cox's employment. For purposes of this appeal, Appellant challenges the EAB's decision to affirm her termination, raising factual and legal questions for the Court's determination.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

At the time of her termination, Ms. Cox was fifty-two (52) years of age with over seventeen (17) years of service to the Mississippi Department of Corrections (hereinafter "MDOC"). During her lengthy employment with MDOC, there have been numerous employees found to be inattentive, as defined by MDOC policy, while on duty. Yet, Ms. Cox is the only employee that has been terminated for violating the aforementioned policy. In fact, it is uncontroverted that after Ms. Cox's termination, more specifically on or about April 24, 2005, MDOC received documented, recorded proof of several officers' inattentiveness as video footage revealed several officers who appeared to be asleep

while on duty at Unit 32. <u>See Exhibit 6</u>. Neither employee was terminated or even suspended from duty. In fact, they were disciplined pursuant to a directive from Rogers dated March 21, 2005. According to the Memo, Ms. Cox should have received a written reprimand for the infraction that she allegedly committed. <u>See Exhibit 7</u>.

We would like to point out from the outset that during her seventeen (17) years of employment with MDOC, Ms. Cox's employment record was free from blemishes as she had been an exemplary employee. The incident which gave rise to her wrongful termination occurred on January 11, 2005, as Ms. Cox was assigned to yard call detail at Unit 32. In order to give a complete picture of what transpired during the brief encounter between Ms. Cox and Rogers, we must note that on January 8, 2005, Ms. Cox was in an accident while on duty at Unit 32. See Exhibit 2. Despite the injuries that Ms. Cox received in the accident, she reported to duty while under her doctor's care. See Exhibit 3. While conducting yard call on January 11, 2005, Ms. Cox began experiencing pain in her back and legs that caused her to position herself on a crate that was nearby so that she could monitor the activities of the offenders on the yard.

Officer Marilyn Hemphill had just departed from the yard, speaking with Ms. Cox, just prior to Rogers arriving on the yard. In fact, Ms. Cox had just received radio traffic that Rogers was in the building and was performing an inspection. Officer Hemphill testified that she had just left the yard area, speaking with Ms. Cox, less than a minute before Rogers went on the yard and that Ms. Cox was fully alert. Rogers approached Ms. Cox and asked her several questions and then returned to the interior of the Unit. Rogers did a report requesting that action be taken on January 13, 2005, (See Exhibit 1) on the basis that Ms. Cox did not respond when he first walked on the yard.

Of course, Ms. Cox has stated that her back was to Rogers when he arrived on the yard. See Exhibit 1.

On January 18, 2005, Commander Porter prepared a request for an Administrative Review Hearing to Warden Earnest Lee. Superintendent Lawrence Kelly sent Ms. Cox Notice of an Administrative Review Hearing on February 4, 2005, with a scheduled hearing date of February 24, 2005, before the hearing officer Connie Ayers. Ms. Ayers recommended that Ms. Cox be terminated for appearing to be sleep. Ms. Cox appealed the termination, and on April 7, 2005, Ms. Cox's employment was terminated. After Ms. Cox appealed her termination, the agency learned that Ms. Cox knew how other employees had been treated and a new memo was issued on May 25, 2005, superceding the memo attached as Exhibit 7. See Exhibit 8. It is worthy to mention that the memo attached as Exhibit 8 was issued just two weeks before the hearing before the EAB. A hearing was held before hearing officer Falton O. Mason, Jr., who entered an order on June 13, 2005, sustaining the action by M.D.O.C. Ms. Cox, acting pro se, timely appeal hearing officer Mason's decision to the Full Board.

The Full Board entered its Order upholding hearing officer Mason's decision in all respects despite the facts that a full and complete transcript did not exist. Thereafter, Ms. Cox properly appealed the decision of the Full Board to the Circuit Court of Sunflower County pursuant to EAB Rule 27. Ms. Cox filed her Motion for a New Trial with the Circuit Court of February 15, 2006. Feeling aggrieved by the Circuit Court's ruling to sustain the decision of MDOC to terminate her employment and affirming the decision of the EAB, Ms. Cox has perfected this appeal.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

Generally, an appeal from an administrative body's findings and orders is subjected to limited review. Pub. Employees' Ret. Sys. v. Howard, 905 So. 2d 1279, 1284 (Miss. 2005). And the decision shall go undisturbed unless there is a showing that the decision was not supported by substantial evidence, arbitrary, capricious, beyond the power of the lower authority to make, or violated some statutory or constitutional right of the complaining party. Id. (citing Pub. Employees' Ret. Sys. v. Marquez, 774 So. 2d 421, 425 (Miss. 2000)); see also, URCCC 5.03. Review, in this regard, is simply on the record. However, where an appeal from an administrative body raises questions of law, review is not limited to the record, but is *de novo*. McGowan v. Miss. State Oil and Gas Bd., 604 So. 2d 312, 317 (Miss. 1992).

Questions of law are presented in this appeal as a result of the EAB's finding, which sustained the Agency's decision to terminate Ms. Cox's employment. Therefore, de novo review is applicable. Assuming, for argument's sake, that this Court does not agree that questions of law are presented herein, review is limited to the record produced before the administrative body.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The decision of the EAB is subject to *de novo* review under the "independent judgment test" because the actions of the EAB were done in violation of Ms. Cox's procedural due process rights as defined by Article Three, Section Fourteen of the Mississippi Constitution and the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution. Ms. Cox had valuable property rights in her employment that were wrongfully taken as a result of an erroneous decision render by the EAB without the benefit of a FULL and COMPLETE record of the incident which gave rise to Ms. Cox's termination. Moreover, the decision of the EAB, sustaining Ms. Cox's termination of employment under section 25-9-131 of the Mississippi Code Annotated, is fundamentally arbitrary and capricious as the decision fails the "substantial evidence test" and, therefore,

should not be entitled to deferential treatment by this Court. It is an undisputed fact that the record before this Court is incomplete, missing crucial and important segments of testimony that lend support and credence to Ms. Cox's assertion that she was not inattentive as alleged and that she was treated differently than other employees of MDOC who were captured on camera asleep while on duty.

For the above stated reasons, the decision of the Circuit Court of Sunflower County should be reversed.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. WHETHER THE DECISION TO SUSTAIN MS. COX'S TERMINATION WITHOUT THE BENEFIT OF A COMPLETE TRANSCRIPT WAS DONE IN VIOLATION OF ARTICLE THREE, SECTION FOURTEEN OF THE CONSTITUTION OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI AND THE FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT TO THE CONSTITUTION OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, CREATING A CONSTITUTIONAL FACT WHEREAS THIS COURT MAY REVIEW THE EAB'S ACTIONS UNDER THE INDEPENDENT JUDGMENT TEST.

Once it is shown that judicial review is available, the appellant must then show the extent of the reviewing court's inquiry into the merits of the challenged agency action. BERNARD SCHWARTZ, ET AL., ADMINISTRATIVE LAW, §10.1 (2nd ed. 1984); see also, URCCC 5.03. Put simplistically, the appellant must show how far the reviewing court may inquire into the agency's decision. Id. A review of an agency's decision triggers two pivotal questions: whether the review of the agency's decision in the judiciary is to questions of law or whether the review of the agency's decision in the judiciary is to questions of fact. McGowan at 317(citing Miss. State Dep't Health v. Southwest Miss. Reg. Med. Ctr., 580 So. 2d 1238, 1240 (Miss. 1991)); see also, General Ry. Signal v. Washington Transit Auth., 527 F. Supp. 359, 360 (D.C. 1979). Generally, judicial review over questions of fact is limited to the administrative record, with deference given to the administrative agency's decision. American Textile Manufacturers Institute v. Donovan, 452 U.S. 490 (1981). Deference is accorded to the

agency based on its expertise and knowledge in the challenged area. <u>Id.</u> Nevertheless, agency expertise is not enough to justify abdication of review power over facts. <u>McGowan</u> at 316. A court cannot simply rubber stamp the administrative agency's decision as proper under deference based upon administrative expertise. <u>N.L.R.B. v. Tri-State Ins. Co.</u>, 188 F.2d 50, 53 (10th Cir. 1951). Where questions of law, such as constitutional rights, are raised on appeal from a decision of an administrative agency, an appellate court may review those issues outside of the record and under its own independent judgment without being impugned. <u>McGowan</u> at 324-25; <u>see also</u>, BERNARD SCHWARTZ, ET AL., ADMINISTRATIVE LAW, §10.1 (2nd ed. 1984).

In Ohio Valley Water Co. v. Borough of Ben Avon, 253 U.S. 287, 289 (1920), the United States Supreme Court held that "in all cases, if the owner claims a confiscation of his property will result, the State must provide a fair opportunity for submitting that issue to a judicial tribunal for determination upon its own independent judgment as to both law and facts; otherwise the order is void because in conflict with the due process clause." (citations omitted). In McGowan, the Mississippi Supreme Court held that its review of the matters (whether McGowan was denied procedural due process rights) was with regard to "law and not fact," and de novo review was appropriate. McGowan at 317.

In the case at bar, the issues involved the record that was before the Full Board. Ms. Cox had valuable property rights in her employment, which required the adherence to the procedural due process requirements under the Mississippi Constitution and the United States Constitution. Ms Cox was entitled to have a full and complete record before the EAB. Clearly, the full EAB was in error to sustain the decision of the hearing officer when it did not have the FULL AND COMPLETE RECORD before it for review. At a minimum, 23 pages of shorthand notes of the testimony are missing. In reviewing the partial transcript of the hearing, Exhibits 13 and 14 were introduced during cross examination of Mr. Kelly, the Superintendent for MDOC. The testimony that was taken regarding the two exhibits is not included in the transcript. Mr. Kelly's testimony on

direct is central to how the agency has treated other employees that were accused or found to be asleep while on duty. The transcript simply states, "The following record is a portion of the last 23 pages of shorthand notes, which were damaged when Hurricane Katrina took off shingles of my office and I had leaks and ceiling tile which fell on some books, tapes, and papers."

The cross examination of Officer Hemphill, as well as the re-direct of Officer Hemphill, are missing from the transcript. Officer Hemphill's re-direct testimony is central in establishing how the agency decision to terminate Ms. Cox was arbitrary and capricious when other similar situated employees were treated differently. The transcript of the direct examination of Ms. Cox consists of a mere 10 words of testimony and the remaining testimony is missing from the transcript. Ms. Cox was called as an adverse witness and her testimony consisted of approximately 10 pages of transcript. In putting on her case, the records shows only ten (10) typed words from Ms. Cox. Clearly, Ms. Cox is entitled to a full and complete record of the proceeding before the EAB.

Where the unsuccessful party has been deprived, without his fault or negligence, of the official stenographer's transcript of the evidence or of an official transcript of the record in time to obtain a review of the case, a new trial may be granted. 66 C.J.S. New Trial § 127. Clearly, Ms. Cox is free from fault or negligence in the destruction of the missing portion of the transcript. In Cockrham v. South Central Bell Tel. Co., 695 F.2d 143, 145 (5th Cir. 1983), the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals held in an employment case that, "The loss of half of the trial transcript makes impossible the necessary, obligatory review of the magistrate's findings by the district court for clear error." (citations omitted). The case was reversed and remanded for retrial. The opportunity for a meaningful review by the full EAB and this Court is substantially affected, which raises a constitutional due process question. As this question now exists, this Court may adjudge this matter anew, inserting its own independent judgment.

II. WHETHER THE EAB'S DECISION TO AFFIRM MS. COX'S TERMINATION FAILED TO MEET THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE "SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE SO TEST" AS TO VIOLATE FUNDAMENTAL **PROCEDURAL PRINCIPLES** ADMINISTRATIVE LAW AND INSTINCTIVELY MAKING THE EAB'S DECISION ARBITRARY AND CAPRICIOUS, THEREBY ENTITLING THIS COURT NOT TO GIVE DEFERENTAL TREATMENT TO THE EAB'S PRIOR DECISION TO AFFIRM MS. COX'S TERMINATION.

Again, once it is shown that judicial review is available, the appellant must then show the extent of the reviewing court's inquiry into the merits of the challenged agency action. BERNARD SCHWARTZ, ET AL., ADMINISTRATIVE LAW, §10.1 (2nd ed. 1984); see also, URCCC 5.03. Judicial review in the appellate courts of an administrative agency's decision is proper if the decision was not supported by substantial evidence on the record as a whole. Miss. State Bd. Of Pub. Accountancy v. Gray, 674 So. 2d 1251, 1252 (Miss. 1996). Under the "substantial evidence test," substantial evidence is something between the weight of evidence and a mere scintilla. Pub. Employees' Ret. Sys. v. Marquez, 774 So. 2d 421, 425 (Miss. 2000) (citations omitted) (emphasis added); see also, Consolidated Edison Co. v. NLRB, 305 U.S. 197, 229 (1938). Substantial evidence is such evidence as "might lead a reasonable person to make a finding." Id. (citing Delta CMI v. Speck, 586 So. 2d 768, 768 (Miss. 1991) (emphasis added). And such evidence to support a fact-finding is substantial when from it "an inference of existence of the fact may be drawn reasonably." <u>Id.</u> (emphasis added); see also, Stork v. Restaurant, Inc. v. Boland, NY. 256, 274 (1940). The substantial evidence test is a test of the "reasonableness" of the agency findings. Cusson v. Firemen's Comm'n., 524 S.W.2d 88, 90 (Tex. Civ. App. 1975) (emphasis added). The reviewing court may not weigh the evidence, substituting its own judgment for that of the agency on the facts; but neither is it to rubber stamp fact-findings simply because they are supported by a scintilla of evidence. Consolidated Edison at 216-18. The reviewing court must reverse the agency decision if the court cannot conscientiously escape the conclusion that the finding is unfair. BERNARD SCHWARTZ, ET AL.,

ADMINISTRATIVE LAW, §10.1 (2nd ed. 1984); see also, Harrison County Bd. Of Supr's v. Carlo Corp. Inc., 833 So. 2d 582, 583 (Miss. 2003). "If an administrative agency's decision is not based on substantial evidence, it necessarily follows that the decision is arbitrary and capricious." Miss. State Dep't of Health v. Natchez Comm. Hosp., 743 So. 2d 973, 977 (Miss. 1999). An administrative agency's decision is arbitrary "when it is not done according to reason and judgment, but on the will alone"; fixed or done capriciously or at pleasure; absolute in power, tyrannical, despotic, non-rational, implying either a lack of understanding of or disregard for the fundamental nature of things. Burks v. Amite County Sch. Dist., 708 So. 2d 1366, 1370 (Miss. 1998) (emphasis added); see also, Carlo Corp. Inc. at 583. An action is capricious if "done without reason, in a whimsical manner, implying either a lack of understanding of or disregard for the surrounding facts and settled controlling principles"; freakish, fickle, or arbitrary. Id.; see also, Carlo Corp. Inc. at 583 (emphasis added).

In Miss. Dep't of Health v. Natchez Comm. Hosp., 743 So. 2d at 978-79, the Mississippi Supreme Court upheld the reversal of the State Health Officer by the Hinds County Chancery Court. In that case, Q.S.C. filed an application for certificate of need under the Mississippi State Health Plan. Id. at 975. Q.S.C.'s application was reviewed by the Staff of the Health Planning and Resource Development Division of the Department of Health. Id. After a hearing, the Hearing Officer found substantial evidence to grant a C.O.N. license to Q.S.C. Id. Natchez Hospital appealed the decision to the Chancery Court of Hinds County, Mississippi. Id. On review, the Chancellor ruled that the Health Officer's decision had failed the substantial evidence test. Id. at 977. There was insufficient evidence in the whole record as to why the Health Officer should have granted the CON to Q.S.C. Id. On appeal, the Mississippi Supreme Court agreed, finding the Health Officer's decision arbitrary, capricious, based on whimsy, and unsupported by substantial evidence in the whole record. Id. at 978-79.

Cutting through the smoke and mirrors of the testimony introduced at the hearing before the EAB, the evidence boils down to this: Ms. Cox is alleged by Rogers to be inattentive for approximately five seconds R:4, L19. Rogers was newly appointed to his position as Deputy Warden, and he had very little experience supervising officers in a maximum security unit. R:9, L19-22. Rogers received his promotion on January 3, 2005. R:90, L1-7. In Rogers's first report of the incident he stated, "I don't think my original memo ever mentioned that she was asleep." R:23, L10-11. In fact when Rogers was questioned whether Ms. Cox was asleep, he agreed that he was not saying that she was sleep but unresponsive for five seconds. R:23, L14-18. The more telling evidence is Rogers' testimony that he has never said that Ms. Cox appeared to be asleep. R:40, L5. MDOC failed to conduct any form of investigation into the matter. Rogers testified that the matter was pending investigation. R:17, L25. However, there were no investigations that were actually conducted by Rogers. R:18, L1-13.

MDOC called the hearing officer, Ms. Connie Ayers, to testify regarding her findings and recommendations. Ms. Ayers testified that she recommended that Ms. Cox be terminated based on the fact that Ms. Cox was unaware of her surroundings and apparently appeared to be asleep. R56, L23-24. Ms. Ayers also testified that all officers that appear to be asleep and unaware of their surrounding should be treated no different that Ms. Cox. R:58, L11-14. When questioned regarding Officers Rias and Price, Ms. Ayers testified that she was not aware of the incidents and that they have never been brought to her for a hearing. R:62, L12-24. When Ms. Ayers was questioned regarding whether her recommendation to terminate Ms. Cox treated Ms. Cox the same as other employees, Ms. Ayers stated, "evidently – evidently not..." R:63-21-24. MDOC can offer no reasonable explanation as to why Ms. Cox, a 17 year veteran employee with no prior disciplinary actions, was treated different than other employees. Cleary, the disciplinary actions against Ms. Cox was arbitrary and capricious.

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