IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

EMMA COX

APPELLANT

V.

CAUSE NO. 2006-SA-01611

MS DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS

APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF SUNFLOWER COUNTY

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM HOOD MISSISSIPPI ATTORNEY GENERAL

DAVID K. SCOTT
SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
MS BAR NO.
723 N. PRESIDENT STREET
JACKSON, MS 39202
PH: (601) 359-5672
FAX: (601) 359-5735

JANE L. MAPP, MS BAR # SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL 510 GEORGE STREET, SUITE 212 JACKSON, MS 39202 PH: (601) 359-5770

FAX: (601) 359-5735

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Cox failed to comply with MRAP 10(c) regarding supplementing the brief with written statements of the evidence therefore she can not now complain that there in not a complete transcript of the hearing available to the court.

There is sufficient evidence to support the Hearing Officer's decision to sustain the action taken by MDOC in terminating Cox's employment and therefore this matter should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

I. Whether the EAB TO Sustain Ms. Cox's Termination Without the Benefit of a Complete Transcript Was Done in Violation of Article Three,

Record on Appeal in this case. However, this transcript was not part of the record before the EAB or the Circuit Court and has no bearing on this appeal. Therefore, it was not properly included as part of the Record before this Court. See, M.R.A.P. 10(a).

Section Fourteen of the Constitution of the State of Mississippi and the Fourteenth Amendment to the Constitution of the United States of America, Creating a Constitutional Fact Whereas this Court May Review the Board's Actions under the Independent Judgment Test.

Cox argues that she is entitled to a new hearing because a portion of the court reporter's notes from her hearing were destroyed and therefore the Full Board did not have a complete transcript in order to conduct a *de novo* review. Cox claims that the Full Board erred in affirming the decision of the Hearing Officer when it did not have a "full and complete record before it for review."

Cox was entitled to and received a *de novo* hearing before the EAB hearing officer and was afforded all applicable safeguards of procedural due process. Beyond that, the review of the actions of the terminating agency is not *de novo*, but instead is based on the pleadings, documentary evidence filed for the record at the EAB hearing, the transcript of the hearing, and briefs of the parties. *See*, Mississippi State Employee Handbook, § 11, page 97 (Rev. July 2005). "This Court, as well as the circuit court, reviews a decision of an administrative agency for substantial evidence supporting that agency's finding, and the scope of review is limited to the findings of the agency." *Mississippi Dept. of Human Services v. McNeel*, 869 So.2d 1013, 1016 (Miss. 2004).

Cox is not automatically entitled to a new hearing merely because portions of the transcript are missing. Rule 10(c) of the Mississippi Rules of Appellate Procedure provides for a procedure to supplement the transcript when portions of it are missing. Rule 10(c) states as follows:

If no stenographic report or transcript of all or part of the evidence or proceedings is available, the appellant may prepare a statement of the evidence or proceedings from the best available means, including recollection. he statement should convey a fair, accurate, and complete account of what transpired with respect to those issues that are the bases of appeal. The statement, certified by the appellant or his counsel as an accurate account of the proceedings, shall be filed with the clerk of the trial court within 60 days after filing the notice of appeal. Upon filing the statement, the appellant shall simultaneously serve notice of the filing on the appellee, accompanied by a short and plain declaration of the issues the appellant intends to present on appeal. If the appellee objects to the statement as filed, the appellee shall file objections with the clerk of the trial court within 14 days after service of the notice of the filing of the statement. Any differences regarding the statement shall be settled as set forth in subdivision (e) of this Rule.

M.R.A.P. 10(c).

Cox has never filed a statement of the evidence as required by Rule 10(c), and in fact, Cox did not even object to the lack of a complete transcript when the matter was pending before the Full Board for review. Cox can not seek a new hearing when she has failed to even attempt to supplement the transcript as required by M.R.A.P. 10(c). Furthermore, the Mississippi Supreme Court in *Watts v. State*, 717 So.2d 314, 318 (Miss. 1998), held that when an appellant is represented on appeal by the same attorney that represented her at trial, it is incumbent upon the attorney to "show specific prejudice by the missing portions of the record in order to mandate reversal and remand for a new trial."

While Cox filed her own pro se brief with the Full Board, Attorney Pittman represented Cox at her hearing before the EAB Hearing Officer, before the Circuit Court, and here before this Court. However, there was no attempt made when the case was before the

Full Board or the Circuit Court to supplement the transcript with a statement of the evidence or to show a specific prejudice from the missing portions of the transcript.

Additionally, the available portions of the transcript are sufficient to show the two differing versions of the incident leading to Cox's termination. The record contains the full testimony of Deputy Warden Rogers and the full adverse testimony of Officer Cox where they each detailed the incident. The record also contains abundant testimony regarding Cox's alternative argument that even if she was sleeping, her termination was arbitrary and capricious because other officers caught sleeping only received written reprimands. The testimony included in the missing pages would merely be redundant as to these two issues.

Accordingly, Cox is not entitled to a new hearing in this matter.

II. Whether the EAB's Affirming Ms. Cox's Termination Failed to Meet the Requirements of the "Substantial Evidence Test" So as to Violate Fundamental Procedural Principles of Administrative Law and Instinctively Making the Abs's Decision Arbitrary and Capricious, Thereby Entitling the Circuit Court of Sunflower County, Mississippi Not to Give Deferential Treatment to the EAB's Prior Decision to Affirm Ms. Cox's Termination.

The Hearing Officer in his Order summarized the evidence presented at the hearing as follows:

The testimony of Deputy Warden John D. Rogers reflected that on January 11, 2005, he was touring Unit 32 B-Building, and observed "yard call" in progress, that he exited the building to monitor the detail. That when he entered the area, he observed the Appealing Party sitting down adjacent to the door, that her head was down and her eyes closed, that he stood beside her for approximately 5 seconds, and she never acknowledged his presence, that while he was watching her, the inmates were watching both of them. That he asked the Appealing Party why she was sitting down and why she did not realize that

he had walked into the yard. He also asked her whether she had received a directive about sitting down while holding "yard call". That the Appealing Party stated she was looking in the other direction from him. That he instructed the Appealing Party to be more responsible on her post.

There was testimony that earlier there had been an incident where an Officer was injured by inmates during "Yard Call."

The Appealing Party testified that she was looking the other way, that she was sitting down because she hurt her back earlier and it and her legs were hurting. That she had never read any general order or policy, nor received any directive, state that an Officer was not to or could not sit while holding "yard call". That there were chairs and crat4es out there for Officers to sit. She also testified that she was either calling or talking on the hand held radio at the time he came out into the yard. The Appealing Party complained that the incident was never investigat4d by Internal Affairs, as it should have been, that policy required that where an officer appears to be asleep on their post. Deputy Warden Rogers never testified that the Appealing Party was asleep, rather he testified that she was inattentive at a time when such inattention could result in harm to herself and others.

There was testimony that the Appealing Party was not treated the same as other employees who had been charged with sleeping on duty. There was evidence the two other employees who were with sleeping on duty, were issued written reprimands. The testimony reflected that these two employees were on tower duty, and isolated from inmates, and that they were observed by the camera. The Appealing Party was in a yard with a number of inmates, and was observed by a Deputy Warden to be inattentive. The testimony reflected that the circumstances between the observation by camera of the employees who appeared to be asleep in the tower, is very different from being in a yard with a number of inmates, and being observed personally by a Deputy Warden to be inattentive and open to possible attack from inmates.

her inattentive ness to her duties placed herself as well as other in danger. She was alone in a yard with inmates who are classified as dangerous, being housed in a maximum security unit, and her failure to be alert could have resulted in injury to herself and others."

(R2:34).

The Hearing Officer as the trier of fact is in the best position to determine the credibility of witnesses and to determine who and what to believe when there are conflicts in testimony since he is able to listen to each witness and observe their demeanor. The Hearing Officer's findings of fact should not be disturbed unless manifestly wrong. See, Pride Oil Co., Inc. v. Tommy Brooks Oil Co., 761 So.2d 187 (Miss. 2000); St. Dominic-Jackson Memorial Hosp. v. Miss. State Dept. of Health, 728 So.2d 81, 97 (Miss. 1998).

Cox was charged with committing a Group III, Number 11 offense:

an act or acts of conduct occurring on or off the job which are plainly related to job performance and are of such nature that to continue the employee in the assigned position could constitute negligence in regard to the agency's duties to the public or to other state employees

She was also charged with committing a Group III, Number 7 offense, a "violation of safety rules where there exists a threat to life or human safety".

The evidence clearly shows that Deputy Warden John Rogers went to Unit 32-B building on January 11, 2005 and while making rounds he went out the doors to the yard pen. He noticed the yard was full of inmates and Officer Cox was sitting down adjacent to the door just a few feet away with her head down and her eyes appeared to be shut. Rogers testified he observed Officer Cox, but did not see her eyes open and that after approximately five seconds it became apparent that the inmates were watching her so he addressed her at that point. According to Rogers, Cox seemed somewhat startled and she stated that she was sitting down because her leg was swelling. After he addressed her, Officer Cox got up so he went back inside the building and reported the incident. (R3: 4-5).

At no time during these proceeding has Cox denied that she was sitting down during yard call, but she has repeatedly denied that she was asleep or inattentive. She stated that she did not notice Deputy Warden Rogers because she was looking the other way and talking on her radio. (R3:76).

This conflict in the testimony between the only two people involved in the actual incident is best resolved by the trier of fact. It was up the hearing officer to determine whether or not Cox met her burden of proving that she was not sitting down with her eyes closed during yard call, inattentive to her surroundings. Clearly, the Hearing Officer resolved the conflict in favor of the testimony of Deputy Warden Rogers. This decision can not overturn unless found to be manifestly wrong.

The only other issue left to be resolved is that of whether the punishment imposed was arbitrary and capricious. Cox argues that two other officers at Unit 32 who appeared to be sleeping on duty only received written reprimands and therefore her harsher punishment was arbitrary and capricious. However, the testimony at the hearing showed that the other two officers were not personally seen, but instead were caught by security cameras ("ESOC"). Also, those two officers were in a secure tower separated from the offenders by sliding gates and bars, whereas Officer Cox was alone in a pen with a group of over twenty maximum security offenders with very little protection. (R3:28, 33).

Connie Ayers, the Administrative Hearing Officer who recommended that Cox be terminated testified that the two employees that were given written reprimands were not

brought before her for administrative review hearings. She testified that other staff had come before her with no prior disciplinary action and were terminated after being caught sleeping on duty. (R3:62-64; 66).

There was much testimony regarding two memos issued after Officer Cox's Administrative Review Hearing. The first was issued by Deputy Warden Rogers on March 21, 2005 at the direction of Warden Lee regarding disciplinary action for staff who appeared to be sleeping on post as reported by ESOC. According to the memo, disciplinary action for a first offense was to be a written reprimand and disciplinary action for a second offense was two be a request for administrative hearing. (Ex. 7; R3:37). On May 25, 2005, at the direction of Superintendent Lawrence Kelly a second memorandum was issued superceding the previous memo. The May 25, 2005 memo stated that stated that "any staff that appears to be asleep or inattentive while on duty will be subject to disciplinary action that might include request for Administrative Review Hearing." This memo did not differentiate between personal observation and ESOC observation. (R3:46-47; Ex. -8).

Superintendent Kelly testified that Warden Lee did not consult him before having Deputy Warden Rogers issue the first memo. He stated that it had always been the position of MDOC to request an Administrative Review Hearing when a staff person was observed to be inattentive or appeared to be asleep. (R3:85-86).

Superintendent Lawrence Kelly went on to testify that there is a significant difference when an officer is personally observed by a supervisor as being asleep or inattentive and

when such action is captured on the electronic surveillance system. Kelly testified that the video is panning and is often grainy, sometimes making it hard to make out an image. Also, the person may have their back to the camera and you just see grainy video of someone sitting in a chair, making the evidence inconclusive. (R3:84-85, 88-89).

Under SPB rules, if there is evidence to support the agency's findings and "if the personnel action taken by the responding agency is allowed under said policies, rules and regulations, the Employee Appeals Board shall not alter the action." Mississippi State Employee Handbook, §11, page 96 (Rev. July 2005). See, Johnson v. Miss. Dept. of Corrections, 682 So.2d 367, 369-71 (Miss. 1996). The Mississippi State Employee Handbook, §10 (C), page 66 (Rev. July 2005), states that the "[c]ommission of one (1) Group Three offense may be disciplined by a written reprimand and/or may result in suspension without pay for not less that one (1) nor more than six (6) workweeks (in increments of workweeks), demotion, or dismissal. There was sufficient evidence presented to show that the facts surrounding the written reprimands issued to Officers Rias and Price were distinguishable from the facts surrounding Cox's termination. Accordingly, since the action taken by MDOC of terminating Cox was allowed under the policies, rules and regulations of the State Personnel Board the EAB hearing officer, the Full Board and the Circuit Court were correct in affirming Cox's termination.

CONCLUSION

The actions of MDOC, the EAB and the Circuit Court were neither arbitrary nor capricious and Cox failed to meet her burden of proof in this matter. Accordingly, the decision of the Circuit Court should be affirmed.